
Spelthorne Borough Council, Council Offices, Knowle Green

Staines-upon-Thames TW18 1XB

www.spelthorne.gov.uk customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk Telephone 01784 451499

222

Please reply to: 
Contact: Chris Curtis
Service: Committee Services
Direct line: 01784 446240
E-mail: c.curtis@spelthorne.gov.uk
Date: 11 August 2020

Notice of meeting

Planning Committee 

Date: Wednesday, 19 August 2020

Time: Call Over Meeting - 6.00 pm

The Call Over meeting will deal with administrative matters for the Planning Committee 
meeting. Please see guidance note on reverse

Committee meeting – Immediately upon the conclusion of the Call Over Meeting

Place: Video Conference via Skype for Business

To the members of the Planning Committee

Councillors:

T. Lagden (Chairman)
M. Gibson (Vice-Chairman)
C. Bateson
S.A. Dunn
N.J. Gething

A.C. Harman
H. Harvey
N. Islam
J. McIlroy
R.J. Noble

R.W. Sider BEM
V. Siva
R.A. Smith-Ainsley
B.B. Spoor
J. Vinson

Councillors are reminded to notify Committee Services of any Gifts and Hospitality offered 
to you since the last Council meeting so that these may be entered in the Gifts and 
Hospitality Declaration book. 

http://www.spelthorne.gov.uk/
mailto:customer.services@spelthorne.gov.uk


2

Call Over Meeting

Guidance Note 
The Council will organise a meeting immediately prior to the Planning Committee meeting  
(a “Call Over”) which will deal with the following administrative matters for the Committee: 

 Ward councillor speaking
 Public speakers
 Declarations of interests
 Late information
 Withdrawals
 Changes of condition 
 any other procedural issues which in the opinion of the Chairman ought to be dealt 

with in advance of the meeting.

The Call-Over will be organised by Officers who will be present. Unless there are 
exceptional circumstances, the meeting will be held in the same room planned for the 
Committee.  The Chairman of the Planning Committee will preside at the Call-Over. The 
Call-Over will take place in public and Officers will advise the public of the proceedings at 
the meeting.  Public speaking at the Call-Over either in answer to the Chairman’s 
questions or otherwise will be at the sole discretion of the Chairman and his ruling on all 
administrative matters for the Committee will be final.

Councillors should not seek to discuss the merits of a planning application or any other 
material aspect of an application during the Call-Over.

Planning Committee meeting

Start times of agenda items
It is impossible to predict the start and finish time of any particular item on the agenda. It 
may happen on occasion that the Chairman will use his discretion to re-arrange the 
running order of the agenda, depending on the level of public interest on an item or the 
amount of public speaking that may need to take place.  This may mean that someone 
arranging to arrive later in order to only hear an item towards the middle or the end of the 
agenda, may miss that item altogether because it has been "brought forward" by the 
Chairman, or because the preceding items have been dealt with more speedily than 
anticipated.  Therefore, if you are anxious to make certain that you hear any particular item 
being debated by the Planning Committee, it is recommended that you arrange to attend 
from the start of the meeting.  

Background Papers
For the purposes of the Local Government (Access to Information) Act 1985, the following 
documents are to be regarded as standard background papers in relation to all items:

 Letters of representation from third parties
 Consultation replies from outside bodies
 Letters or statements from or on behalf of the applicant



3

AGENDA

Page nos.

1.  Apologies
To receive any apologies for non-attendance.

2.  Minutes 5 - 10
To confirm the minutes of the meeting held on 14 July 2020 as a correct 
record.

3.  Disclosures of Interest
To receive any disclosures of interest from councillors under the 
Councillors’ Code of Conduct, or contact with applicants/objectors under 
the Planning Code.

Planning Applications and other Development Control matters
To consider and determine the planning applications and other 
development control matters detailed in the reports listed below.

4.  Planning Application No. 20/00052/FUL - Inglewood, Green Street, 
Sunbury on Thames, TW16 6QB

11 - 40

Ward
Halliford and Sunbury West

Proposal
Conversion of a House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) to 8 residential 
flats involving extension and alteration to the front and rear with 
associated parking, refuse storage and amenity space.

Officer recommendation
This planning application is recommended for approval subject to 
conditions.

5.  Planning Application No. 20/00150/FUL - 11 Hogarth Avenue, 
Ashford, TW15 1QB

41 - 54

Ward
Ashford Common

Proposal
Change of use of existing dwelling to a 7 bedroom House of Multiple 
Occupation (HMO) including increase to height of an existing rear 
extension and conversion of two integral garages to habitable 
accommodation.



4

Officer recommendation
The planning application is recommended for approval subject to 
conditions as set out in paragraph 8 of the officer’s report.

6.  Planning Appeals Report 55 - 58
To note details of the Planning appeals submitted and decisions 
received between 24 June 2020 and 27 July 2020.

7.  Urgent Items
To consider any items which the Chairman considers as urgent.



Minutes of the Planning Committee
14 July 2020

Present:
Councillor T. Lagden (Chairman)

Councillor M. Gibson (Vice-Chairman)

Councillors

C. Bateson
A. Brar
S.A. Dunn
N.J. Gething
A.C. Harman

N. Islam
J. McIlroy
R.J. Noble
R.W. Sider BEM
V. Siva

R.A. Smith-Ainsley
B.B. Spoor
J. Vinson

Apologies: There were none.

In Attendance:
Councillor R. Chandler
Councillor J.H.J. Doerfel
Councillor J.T.F. Doran
Councillor L. E. Nichols
Councillor O. Rybinski
Councillor D. Saliagopoulos
Councillor J.R. Sexton

The following Councillor, who is not a member of the Committee, 
attended the meeting and spoke on an application in or affecting her 
ward:

Councillor M.M. Attewell – Planning Application No. 20/00058/FUL - 
Laleham Recreation Ground, The Broadway, Laleham, TW18 1RZ

132/20  Appointment of Chairman 

It was proposed by Councillor N. Gething and seconded by Councillor N. 
Islam that Councillor M. Gibson be appointed Chairman of the Planning 
Committee for the municipal year 2020-21.

It was proposed by Councillor C.L. Bateson and seconded by Councillor J. 
Vinson that Councillor T. Lagden be appointed Chairman of the Planning 
Committee for the municipal year 2020-21.

Resolved that Councillor T. Lagden be appointed Chairman of the Planning 
Committee for the municipal year 2020/21.

Page 5

Agenda Item 2



Planning Committee, 14 July 2020 - continued

133/20  Minutes 

The minutes of the meeting held on 29 April 2020 were approved as a correct 
record.

134/20  Appointment of Vice Chairman 

It was proposed by Councillor N. Gething and seconded by Councillor S. 
Dunn that Councillor M. Gibson be appointed Vice Chairman for the municipal 
year 2020-21.

It was proposed by Councillor A. Brar and seconded by Councillor B. Spoor 
that Councillor R.A. Smith-Ainsley be appointed Vice Chairman for the 
municipal year 2020-21.

Resolved that Councillor M. Gibson be appointed Vice Chairman for the 
municipal year 2020-21

135/20  Disclosures of Interest 

a) Disclosures of interest under the Members’ Code of Conduct

There were none.

b) Declarations of interest under the Council’s Planning Code

Councillors S. Dunn, N. Gething, T. Lagden, R. Sider, V. Siva, R.A. Smith-
Ainsley, B. Spoor and J. Vinson reported that they had received 
correspondence in relation to Application 2/00449/FUL, The Limes, 11A-11B 
Station Crescent, Ashford and Councillor M. Gibson had visited the site.  All  
had maintained an impartial role, had not expressed any views and had kept 
an open mind.

136/20  Planning Application No. 20/00058/FUL - Laleham Recreation 
Ground, The Broadway, Laleham, TW18 1RZ 

Description:
The application sought approval to install 6 no. 15m high floodlight columns 
with 2 no. LED lights per column around an existing football pitch located on 
the Laleham Recreation Ground, off the Broadway, Laleham.

Additional Information:
The Principal Planning Officer informed the Committee that one additional 
letter had been received from a resident raising comments relating to the 

Page 6



Planning Committee, 14 July 2020 - continued

amended application form submitted last month which replaced the original 
form.

In response to this, the Case Officer wrote to the resident clarifying the 
position on the application form and the amended ownership certificate 
submitted.

Public Speaking: 
In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, 
Kathleen Thompson spoke against the proposed development raising the 
following key points:
• The Trustees permission was needed
• Timing of floodlight use
• There were no benefits to the local community
• Concern about future possible extension of time
• No mention of electrical infrastructure
• Archaeology
• High number of letters of objection received
• Light pollution, noise and associated impact on neighbouring properties
• Harmful impact on the Conservation Area

In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, 
Councillor M. Attewell spoke as Ward Councillor against the proposed 
development raising the following key points:

• The recreation ground was not public land
• No trustees permission gained
• Harmful impact on the Green Belt and Conservation Area
• Disagreed with the Conservation Officer’s comments

Debate:
During the debate the following key issues were raised:
• Changes in planning policy (NPPF) since the last planning application
• The difference in size compared to the previous application
• Impact of lighting
• Effect on the Green Belt
• Proposal commensurate with the site
• Timing of use restrictions
• Impact on the Conservation area and the setting of Listed Buildings
• Noise
• Out of character
• Advancement of lighting technology
• Land ownership issues
• Visual impact of the lighting columns
• Concern about future extension of timing of lighting usage

Decision:
The application was approved subject to conditions as per the Planning 
Committee report.

Page 7



Planning Committee, 14 July 2020 - continued

137/20  Planning Application No. 20/00449/FUL - The Limes, 11A-11B 
Station Crescent, Ashford, TW15 3JJ 

Description:
This application proposed a change of use of the existing building from an 
Elderly Care Home to a Children’s Home with associated alterations.

Additional Information:
The Principal Planning Officer advised the Committee that:

One additional letter of representation had been received, which contained a 
petition with 76 signatories objecting to the loss of care home spaces at the 
site.

The new issues raised, which had not already been referred to in previous 
letters of representation included the shortfall of care bed spaces outlined in 
the Council’s updated Strategic Housing Market Assessment (SHMA), 
concerns over the loss of a community facility, the increasing age of the 
population, and concerns that the operational differences between an elderly 
care home and a children’s home would lead to an increase in traffic.  The 
letter also requested the imposition of conditions on any planning permission, 
which would limit the children’s home use to a temporary one year period, and 
which would restrict any further changes of use even within the same C2 use 
class.  

Paragraph 7.54 of the Officer’s report should read “However Surrey Police 
recommended that carers, who would be provided with onsite accommodation 
on the ground floor, should be provided with accommodation that is distinct 
from the residents”.

Public Speaking: 
In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, Nadim 
Zaidi spoke against the proposed development raising the following key 
points:
• Loss of existing use and lack of facilities in the area
• Impact on neighbouring properties
• Car parking
• Increase in staff car movements
• Noise impact
• Temporary planning permission if application is approved
• Conditions should be imposed restricting the use of the property
• Supporting information submitted is insufficient

In accordance with the Council’s procedure for speaking at meetings, 
Councillor N. Gething spoke as Ward Councillor against the proposed 
development raising the following key points:

 Impact on the character of the area
 Effect on the amenity of neighbouring properties
 Not clear on the age of the occupants

Page 8



Planning Committee, 14 July 2020 - continued

 Uncertain future use of the site

Debate:
During the debate the following key issues were raised:
• Reasonable use of conditions
• Original restrictive use condition 
• Concern about the proposed use and the information provided by the 

applicant
• Proximity to neighbouring houses
• Noise

Decision:
The application was approved as per the Planning Committee report.

138/20  Tree Preservation Order No. 264/2020 - Land to front of Rowland 
Hill Almshouses, Feltham Hill Road, Ashford 

Description:
Tree Preservation Order relating to land to the front of Rowland Hill 
Almshouses, Feltham Hill Road, Ashford.

Additional Information:
There was none.

Public Speaking: 
There were no public speakers for this item.

Debate:
During the debate the following key issues were raised:
• Status of trees protected by TPOs
• Benefit of protecting trees

Decision:
The Tree Protection Order was confirmed without modification.

139/20  Tree Preservation Order No. 265/2020 - Littleton Recreation 
Ground, Laleham Road, Shepperton TW17 0JS (r/o 55 Squires 
Bridge Road) 

Description:
Tree Preservation Order relating to Littleton Recreation Ground, Laleham 
Road, Shepperton.

Additional Information:
There was none.

Public Speaking: 

Page 9



Planning Committee, 14 July 2020 - continued

There were no public speakers for this item.

Debate:
During the debate the following key issues were raised:
• Residents have been concerned about the proposed development on 

the site and the impact on the tree.

Decision:
The Tree Protection Order was confirmed without modification.

140/20  Planning Appeals Report 

The Chairman informed the Committee that if any Member had any detailed 
queries regarding the report on Appeals lodged and decisions received since 
the last meeting, they should contact the Planning Development Manager. 

Resolved that the report of the Planning Development Manager be received 
and noted.

141/20  Urgent Items 

There were none.

Page 10



1

El

15

C
R

St Ign
atius 

RC P
rimary

 Scho
ol

Centre

11.3m
Sta

B
ay
 V
ill
as

1 to 6

Casa

St Ign
atius Lodge

Shelter

11.0m

11.6m

Zandvoorde

Almondbury

NURS
ERY G

ARDE
NS

SPRINGFIELD

TH
E R

IDI
NG

S

HERIT
AGE C

LOSE

PW

Ward Bd
y

St Andrews

Cedar Court

11

Waverley Lodge

Inglewood

M
A
N
O
R
 G
A
R
D
E
N
S

4

2

6

5

31

19

13

33

12
8

9

1 to 4

1430

22

10

23

7

16

21

24

20

29

3

27

Bay Cottage

Heathlands

Tempo

LB

Woodham

White

Cerion

Bantham

HEATHLANDS CLOSE

1 to 9
Elmside

H
ouse

6

20

1

10

4

2

1
2

22

21

15

5

19

13

12

11

16

4

1

12

2
5

1

11.0m

9

16

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024284. ¯Scale: 1:1,250
20/00052/FUL- Inglewood, Green Street, Sunbury On Thames

Page 11

Agenda Item 4



This page is intentionally left blank



1 
 

Planning Committee 

 19 August 2020 

 
 

Application No. 20/00052/FUL 

Site Address Inglewood, Green Street, Sunbury On Thames TW16 6QB 

Applicant Mr Tony Allen 

Proposal Conversion of House of multiple occupation (HMO) to 8 residential flats 
involving extension and alteration to front and rear with associated 
parking, refuse storage and amenity space. 

Ward Halliford and Sunbury West 

Call in details N/A 

Officer Kelly Walker 

 

Application Dates 
Valid: 16.01.2020 Expiry: 12.03.2020 

Target: Extension of 
time agreed 

Executive 
Summary 

This planning application is for the conversion of the existing HMO to 
eight new flats in total including extensions. 

It is proposed to extend the existing building used as a HMO for 15 
people which comprises single storey side and rear extensions, and first 
floor rear extensions to include changes to the roof design of the existing 
2 storey rear element and increasing its ridge height.  It is also proposed 
to convert the building to 8 individual flats. Permission has previously 
been given to extend in the same manner (with additional alterations to 
the frontage, which are not being proposed this time) and convert the 
building to 6 residential flats under ref 17/01400/FUL This is still valid 
and does not expire until 10 November 2020. 

The scheme is considered to be an acceptable form of development 
which will be in keeping with the character of the area and have an 
acceptable impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties  It will be 
an efficient use of previously developed land providing a good standard 
of residential accommodation.  It is also considered that there is no 
demonstrable harm caused that would outweigh the benefits of the 
scheme. 

Recommended 
Decision 

This planning application is recommended for approval subject to 
conditions. 

 

Page 13



 
 

MAIN REPORT 

 

1. Development Plan 
 

1.1 The following policies in the Council’s Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009 
are considered relevant to this proposal: 
 

- SP1 (Location of Development) 

- LO1 (Flooding) 

- SP2 (Housing Provision) 

- HO1 (Providing for New Housing Development) 

- HO4 (Housing Size and Type) 

- HO5 (Housing Density) 

- SP6 (Maintaining and Improving the Environment) 

- EN1 (Design of New Development) 

- EN15 (Development on Land Affected by Contamination) 

- SP7 (Climate Change and Transport) 

- CC1 (Renewable Energy, Energy Conservation and Sustainable 
Construction) 

- CC2 (Sustainable Travel) 

- CC3 (Parking Provision) 

 
1.2 Also relevant are the following Supplementary Planning 

Documents/Guidance: 
 

- SPD on Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential 
Development 2011 
 

- SPG on Parking Standards 
 
1.3 The advice contained within the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 

2019 is also relevant. 
 
 
2. Relevant Planning History 
 
17/01400/FUL Conversion of House of Multiple Occupation (HMO)      Grant 

into 6 residential flats (1 x 1 bed, 3 x 2 bed and          10.11.2017 
2 x 3 bed) involving extensions and alterations to  
the front and rear with associated parking, refuse  
storage and amenity space 

 
17/00457/FUL Conversion of House of Multiple Occupation (HMO)    Grant 

into 3 terraced houses involving extensions and         30.08.2017 

Page 14



 
 

alterations to the front and rear. 
 
13/00289/FUL Change of Use of premises from an elderly care   Refused 

home to house in multiple occupation (HMO) for       24.04.2013 
15 no. persons with retention of 6 no. existing     Appeal Allowed 
car parking spaces (retrospective)           29.10 2013 

 
11/00287/FUL Change of use from residential carehome for the           Refused 

elderly to a house of multiple occupancy (HMO)         23.09.2011 
 
06/01143/FUL Erection of a two storey building in the rear garden       Refused 

to provide 10 no. additional bedrooms to existing       15.03.2007 
residential care home. Erection of a single storey  
rear extension and corridor linking main building  
with the proposed two storey building. Provision  
of two further parking spaces. 

 
04/00409/FUL Erection of a 2 storey building in the rear garden  Refused 

to provide 10 no. additional bedrooms, bathrooms,    25.06.2004 
staff room and training/officer room to existing  
residential care home. Erection of single storey rear  
extension and corridor linking main building with the  
proposed 2 storey building. 

 
91/00328/FUL Two storey extension to residential care home  Grant              

                                                                          10.06.1991 
 

 
3. Site Description 

 
3.1 The site is located on the western side of Green Street and is a large 

rectangular plot occupied by a large property over 3 stories with a large rear 
garden,  swimming pool and small outbuilding. The use of the building is as a 
house of multiple occupation (HMO). The site is surrounded by residential 
properties. To the north of the site is a detached dwelling at Elmside, to the 
south is another dwelling on the corner with Nursery Road at St Andrews, and 
to the west at the rear of the site are 4 and 6 Nursery Road. 

 

Background 
3.2 In August 2017 planning permission was granted under ref 17/00457/FUL for 

the conversion of the existing HMO into 3 terraced houses involving 
extensions and alterations to the front and rear. Following that, in October 
2017 permission was granted for the conversion of the HMO into 6 flats, ref 
17/01400/FUL within the same built form as that previously approved. This 
current proposal has now been submitted for the a very similar scheme, which 
involves very little changes to the front of the existing property, but includes 
the same footprint and rear extension approved under those two previous 
planning permissions and in addition the retention of the two integral garages 
(providing 6 off street parking spaces).and the use of that built form as 8 flats 
with 5 no. 1 bed units and 3 no. 2 bed units.  

Page 15



 
 

  
 Description of Proposal 

3.3     The proposal involves the creation of 8 new flats in total, (5 no.1 bed and 3 
no. 2 bed). As noted above, the proposed built form will be similar to the 
previous schemes granted planning permission in 2017 and which are still 
extant. The proposal is for extensions to the rear of the building, including 
single storey side and rear extensions, and first floor rear extensions to 
include changes to the roof design of the existing 2 storey rear element and 
increasing its ridge height. This is the same as the previously approved, 
extant permission, however unlike the previous scheme, the current 
application does not include any changes to the front of the property, apart 
from the insertion of a window and flat roofed side element, opposed to the 
current pitched roof.  

3.4 The proposal will provide individual gardens at the rear, for the 4 ground floor 
flats, and 3 of the 4 first floor flats will have a small private outside amenity 
space in the form of an enclosed balcony. Two of the ground floor flats will 
have integral garages and there will be parking for an additional 4 cars on the 
hardstanding to the front of the site. The proposal also includes refuse and 
cycle storage and landscaping. 

3.5 The proposed site layout and elevation plans are provided as an Appendix.  

 

4     Consultations 
 

4.1 The following table shows those bodies consulted and their response. 
 

Consultee Comment 

County Highway Authority No objection subject to conditions  

Group Head of 
Neighbourhood Services 
(refuse) 

No objection  

Tree Officer No objection.  

Environmental Health 
Officer (contaminated 
land) 

No objection. 

Surrey Wildlife Trust  No objection subject to conditions. 

SCAN Officer 
Concerns about the limited access to the 
proposed flats for disabled people and 
wheelchair users. 

 
5.  Public Consultation 
 
5.1 A total of 31 properties were notified of the planning application and six letters 

of objection have been received, raising the following issues:-. 
 

Page 16



 
 

 -previous applications 
 -parking and highway safety 
 -overdevelopment – too many flats/people 

-out of character 
-noise and disturbance 
-overlooking due to balconies 
-side facing windows should be obscurely glazed 
-poor expensive public transport 
-garden, swimming pool and fencing are in a poor state of repair  
-building is already over-extended when used as a care home  

 -lack of infrastructure such as schools, doctors etc. 
 -site notice has never been displayed at the site for any applications (officer 

note: this is voluntary only and is not a requirement) 
.  
6. Planning Issues 

  
-  Principle of the development 
-  Housing density 
-  Design and appearance. 
-  Residential amenity 
- Highway issues 
- Parking provision 
-  Dwelling mix 

 
7. Planning Considerations 

Need for housing 
7.1      When considering planning applications for housing, local planning authorities 

should have regard to the government’s requirement that they boost 
significantly the supply of housing, and meet the full objectively assessed 
need for market and affordable housing in their housing area so far as is 
consistent policies set out in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF) 
2019. 

 
7.2      The Council has embarked on a review of its Local Plan and acknowledges 

that the housing target in its Core Strategy and Policies DPD February 2009 
of 166 dwellings per annum is more than five years old and therefore the five 
year housing land supply should be measured against the area’s local 
housing need calculated using the Government’s standard method.  The 
standard method for calculating housing need is based on the 2014 
household growth projections and local affordability. This equates to a need of 
606 dwellings per annum in Spelthorne.   This figure forms the basis for 
calculating the five-year supply of deliverable sites.  

 
7.3      Government guidance (NPPF para 73) requires the application of a 20% 

buffer “where there has been significant under delivery of housing over the 
previous three years”.  In addition, guidance on the Housing Delivery Test 
indicates that where housing delivery falls below 85%, a buffer of 20% should 
be applied to the local authority’s five year land supply.  The Housing Delivery 
Test result for Spelthorne Borough Council was published by the Secretary of 
State in February 2020, with a score of 60%. This meant that the Council had 

Page 17



 
 

undelivered housing when compared to need over the previous three years. 
As a consequence, a buffer must be applied and the Council’s Housing 
Delivery Test Action Plan which was produced in 2019, when the test result 
was 63%, is being  updated.  The action plan positively responds to the 
challenge of increasing its housing delivery and sets out actions to improve 
delivery within the Borough. 

 
7.4      The NPPF requires a local authority to demonstrate a full five year supply of 

deliverable sites at all times.  For this reason the base date for this 
assessment is the start of the current year 1 April 2020, but the full five year 
time period runs from the end of the current year, that is, 1 April 2021 to 31 
March 2026. The 20% buffer will therefore be applied to this full period.  
National guidance sets out that the buffer should comprise sites moved 
forward from later in the plan period. A 20% buffer applied to 606 results in a 
figure of 727 dwellings per annum, or 3636 over five years.  

 
7.5      In using the objectively assessed need figure of 727 as the starting point for 

the calculation of a five year supply it must be borne in mind that this does not 
represent a target as it is based on unconstrained need.  Through the Local 
Plan review, the Borough’s housing supply will be assessed in light of the 
Borough’s constraints, which will be used to consider options for meeting 
need.  The Council has now published its Strategic Land Availability 
Assessment (SLAA) which identifies potential sites for future housing 
development over the plan period.  

 
7.6      The sites identified in the SLAA as being deliverable within the first five years 

have been used as the basis for a revised five year housing land supply 
figure.  Spelthorne has identified sites to deliver approximately 3518 dwellings 
in the five year period.  

 
7.7      The effect of this increased requirement with the application of a 20% buffer is 

that the identified sites only represent a 4.8 year supply and accordingly the 
Council cannot at present demonstrate a five year supply of deliverable 
housing sites.   

 
7.8      As a result, current decisions on planning applications for housing 

development need to be based on the ‘tilted balance’ approach set out in 
paragraph 11 of the NPPF (2019).  This requires that planning permission 
should be granted unless ‘any adverse impacts of doing so would significantly 
and demonstrably outweigh the benefits when assessed against the policies 
in this Framework taken as a whole, which is our current figures.  
 
Principle of the development 

7.9 As noted above, Policy HO1 of the Local Plan is concerned with new housing 
development in the Borough. HO1 (c) encourages housing development on all 
sustainable sites, taking into account policy objectives and HO1 (g) states that 
this should be done by: 

Page 18



 
 

“Ensuring effective use is made of urban land for housing by applying 
Policy HO5 on density of development and opposing proposals that would 
impede development of suitable sites for housing.” 

 
7.10 This is also reflected in the NPPF which emphasises the need for the effective 

use of land in meeting the need for homes, whilst safeguarding the 
environment and provides further relevant context in respect of achieving 
appropriate densities.  

 
7.11 The site is located within the urban area and is a brownfield site within an 

accessible location, close to Sunbury Cross with its local facilities and public 
transport links. It is also not located within the Green Belt or high flood risk 
area. The area is characterised by residential uses and is surrounded by 
residential properties. The current use of the building is residential, however it 
is currently a HMO. Family housing and flats are considered to be in keeping 
with the character of the area. Planning permission has also previously been 
given for its use as 6 flats. Therefore the principle of residential is considered 
to be acceptable provided other policy requirements are met, as discussed 
further below. 

 Housing density 
7.12 Policy HO5 in the Core Strategy Policies DPD 2009 (CS & P DPD) sets out 

density ranges for particular context but prefaces this at paragraph 6:25 by 
stating: 

 
“Making efficient use of potential housing land is an important aspect in 
ensuring housing delivery. Higher densities mean more units can be 
provided on housing land but a balance needs to be struck to ensure the 
character of areas is not damaged by over-development.” 

 
7.13 Policy HO5 (a) states that within existing residential area that are 

characterised by predominately family housing rather than flats, new 
development should generally be in the range of 35 to 55 dwellings per 
hectare.  

 
7.14 The policy also states that, 'Higher density developments may be acceptable 

where it is demonstrated that the development complies with Policy EN1 on 
design particularly in terms of its compatibility with the character of the area 
and is in a location that is accessible by non-car based modes of travel.' It is 
important to note that any mathematical density figure is in part a product of 
the mix of units proposed. Accordingly it is possible to accommodate many 
more small units within a given floor space and an acceptable numerical 
density can be higher. 

 
7.15 The scheme involves the creation of 8 flats. The site area is some 1000 sq. m, 

equating to 80 dwellings per hectare (dph).  The development will not include 
family households and as noted above, it is possible for smaller units to be 
accommodated on the same size site. 

 

Page 19



 
 

7.16 The principle of a high density development is consistent with the goals of the 
NPPF which notes in paragraph 117 that, ‘Planning policies and decisions 
should promote an effective use of land in meeting the need for homes and 
other uses, while safeguarding and improving the environment and ensuring 
safe and healthy living conditions’  it goes on to say in paragraph 118 that 
decision makers should, ‘…give substantial weight to the value of using 
suitable brownfield land within settlements for homes and other identified 
needs’ 

 
7.17 Although the proposed density is above the range of 35-55 dph, the 

development may be acceptable providing it complies with policy EN1, 
especially on design.  This is considered below. 

 

 Design and appearance 
7.18 The NPPF paras. 124 – 132 emphasise the requirement of achieving well-

designed places. It notes that, ‘The creation of high quality buildings and 
places is fundamental to what the planning and development process should 
achieve. Good design is a key aspect of sustainable development, creates 
better places in which to live and work and helps make development 
acceptable to communities.’  In addition the National Design Guide, October 
2019 requires development to create “well-designed places” as “places affect 
us all – they are where we live, work and spend our leisure time”. 

 
7.19  Policy EN1a of the CS & P DPD states that “the Council will require a high 

standard in the design and layout of new development. Proposals for new 
development should demonstrate that they will: create buildings and places 
that are attractive with their own distinct identity; they should respect and 
make a positive contribution to the street scene and the character of the area 
in which they are situated, paying due regard to the scale, height, proportions, 
building lines, layout, materials and other characteristics of adjoining buildings 
and land.” 

7.20 As noted above the proposed built form is similar to the previous schemes 
granted planning permission in 2017 but the approved changes to the front 
elevation are not now proposed.  Consequently, it will involve only the 
insertion of a window on the street scene elevation and the provision of a flat 
roof to the side element, opposed to its current pitched roof. Therefore the 
scheme is considered to be acceptable on design grounds when viewed from 
the front in the street scene. The proposal encompasses  extensions to the 
building, including single storey side and rear extensions, and first floor rear 
extensions to include changes to the roof design of the existing 2 storey rear 
element and increasing its ridge height. 

 
7.21 This proposal is different to the previous schemes in that it includes the 

retention of the two integral garages. The proposal involves the conversion of 
the building into 8 flats (rather than the previously agreed 6 flats). Parking will 
continue to be to the front and includes the 2 integral garages and an 
additional 4 spaces, as well as refuse storage, cycle parking and landscaping, 
In addition there is amenity space in the form of private gardens to the rear for 
the ground floor units, and enclosed balconies to the rear for 3 of the 4 first 
floor flats.  

Page 20



 
 

 
7.22 As referred to above, the built form will remain the same as existing, when 

viewed from the street scene, apart from the insertion of a window. Materials 
and the design will respect the existing built form, including angle of the roof, 
eaves height and ridge height. Materials will be subject to condition to ensure 
they match the host building and that they are in keeping with the character of 
the area.  The extensions to the rear are considered to respect the scale and 
design of the host building and will not be visible from the street scene. The 
building itself will be similar in overall form, to the existing (and previously 
approved) but will contain 8 flats rather than the existing large property, used 
as a HMO, or indeed the 3 family dwellings, or 6 flats previously approved.  
As such it is considered to be acceptable in design and will be keeping with 
the character of the area conforming to policy EN1. 

 

7.23 It is concluded that the scale and design of the proposed development 
respects the character of the host building and will be in keeping with the 
character of the area and street scene of Green Street. The proposal is 
considered to be acceptable in this particular location, conforming to Policy 
EN1 and the NPPF.  

 
 Impact on neighbouring residential properties 
7.24 Policy EN1b of the CS & P DPD states that: 
 

“New development should achieve a satisfactory relationship to adjoining 
properties avoiding significant harmful impact in terms of loss of privacy, 
daylight or sunlight, or overbearing effect due to bulk and proximity or 
outlook.” 

 
7.25 The Council’s Supplementary Planning Document on the Design of 

Residential Extensions and New Residential Development 2011 (SPD) sets 
out policies requirements in order to ensure this is met. 

 
7.26 The Design SPD sets out minimum separation distances for development to 

ensure that proposals do not create unacceptable levels of loss of light, be 
overbearing or cause loss of privacy or outlook. These are set as a minimum 
for 2 storey development of 10.5m for back to boundary distance and 21m for 
back to back development. Three storey development has a back to boundary 
distance of 15m and back to back distance of 30m.  

 
7.27 As noted above, the built form, in regards to the proposed rear extensions, is 

the same as previously approved and includes some further changes in order 
to provide 4 flats on each floor opposed to 3. The proposed single storey rear 
extension will have a flat roof with a height of 3.2m to the eaves, as such this 
will have an acceptable impact on the amenity of the property to the north of 
the site at Elmside. The existing side facing window, serving a bedroom, 
located on the boundary, will be obscurely glazed, by condition, to ensure it 
does not result in any overlooking or loss of privacy. As a result, a window will 
be inserted into the front elevation to serve this room. In addition an obscure 
glazing condition will be imposed in order to ensure that any windows 

Page 21



 
 

replaced will also be obscurely glazed in order to ensure an acceptable 
relationship with neighbours. 

 
7.28 A single storey rear/side extension is also proposed to the southern side, 

closest to the boundary with St Andrews. Currently on the common side 
boundary is single storey built form, including an access through and an 
outbuilding. Compared with the existing built form on this common boundary, 
the proposal will extend a further 1m to the rear, with a flat roof and height of 
3.3m to the eaves. As such it is considered that the proposal will have an 
acceptable impact on the amenity of the occupiers of St Andrews to the south 

. 
7.29 There is also a proposed first floor rear extension which is set in from both of 

the side boundaries and will not cross the 45 degree line when taken from the 
adjacent dwellings, as set out in the Supplementary Planning Document on 
design. As a consequence, it will have an acceptable impact on the amenity of 
neighbouring properties. 

 
7.30 The proposed balconies are designed in the same way as those previously 

approved with the previous planning application, however there is only one 
located on the 2 storey element closest to the rear boundary, compared to 2 
previously. The balconies are enclosed, with walls to the side and a 
ceiling/roof over, as they are provided within the built form. They will have only 
window sized openings, looking out towards the rear with no actual glazing. 
This design, combined with the distance to the rear boundary of at least 15m 
at the shortest point, (which is in excess of the Councils minimum separation 
distance for back to boundary development of 10.5m), results in an 
acceptable relationship with the properties to the rear at no. 4 and 6 Nursery 
Road. As such the proposal is considered not to lead to unacceptable 
overlooking or loss of privacy issues. The proposal will also be acceptable in 
terms of not causing an overbearing or loss of light issue and will have an 
acceptable relationship with neighbouring properties, conforming to policy 
EN1. 

 
7.31 It is noted that the proposal only provides living accommodation over the 

ground and first floor with the space in the second floor being used for 
storage. A condition will be imposed to ensure no further openings are 
inserted into the new roof without requiring permission.  

 
7.32 The proposal is considered to have an acceptable relationship with and 

therefore impact on the amenity of existing and proposed neighbouring 
residential properties, conforming to the SPD and Policy EN1. 

 
 Housing size and type 
7.33 Policy HO4 of the CS &P DPD requires 80% of the units to be one or two bed. 

The proposed scheme is for 8 units, which will all be 1 and 2 bedroom units 
providing 100% small units and therefore complies with this policy. 

 Amenity Space 
7.34 The Council’s SPD on Residential Extension and New Residential 

Development 2011 provides general guidance on minimum garden sizes 
(Table 2 and paragraph 3.30). In the case of flats, it requires 35 sqm per unit 

Page 22



 
 

for the first 5 units, 10 sqm for the next 5 units and 5 sqm per unit thereafter. 
This would equate to some 165 sq m in total for the scheme of 8 flats.  
Although the proposal provides well in excess of this amount of outside 
space, with approx. 360 sq m of garden space to the rear, this provides 4 
private gardens for the ground floor units only There is less outside space 
available for the proposed first floor flats, with 3 of the 4 flats having their own 
enclosed balcony which provides a useful private amenity space for these 
units. It is acknowledged that the ground floor flats have an excess amount of 
amenity space, whilst there is a shortfall for the first floor flats.  However, it 
should also be noted that Manor Park is located a short walk from the 
application site and in addition the previous scheme fo 3 flats had a very 
similar situation. As such, given the particular circumstances, it is considered 
that the amenity space provision is acceptable. 

 
Proposed dwelling sizes 

7.35 The SPD on the Design of Residential Extensions and New Residential 
Development 2011 sets out minimum floorspace standards for new dwellings. 
These standards relate to single storey dwellings including flats. For example, 
the minimum standard for a 1-bedroom flat for 2 people is 50 sqm. 

 
7.36 The Government has since published national minimum dwelling size 

standards in their “Technical Housing Standards – nationally described space 
standard” document dated March 2015. These largely reflect the London 
Housing Design Guide on which the Spelthorne standards are also based. 
The standards are arranged in a similar manner to those in the SPD and 
includes minimum sizes for studio flats. This national document must be given 
substantial weight in consideration of the current application in that it adds this 
additional category of small dwellings not included in the Council’s Standards. 

 
7.37 The proposed dwelling sizes comply with the minimum standards stipulated in 

the national technical housing standards and the SPD and most exceed them. 
The proposed units, except one are dual aspect with windows in 2 elevations 
and have a generally good level of outlook. Therefore, it is considered that 
their standard of overall amenity will  be acceptable. 

 
 Highway and parking provision 
7.38 Policy CC2 of the CS & P DPD states that: 

“The Council will seek to secure more sustainable travel patterns by: … (d) 
only permitting traffic generating development where it is or can be made 
compatible with the transport infrastructure in the area taking into account: 
(i) number and nature of additional traffic movements, including servicing 
needs; (ii) capacity of the local transport network; (iii) cumulative impact 
including other proposed development; (iv) access and egress to the public 
highway; and (v) highway safety. 

7.39 Policy CC3 (Parking Provision) of the CS & P DPD states that the Council will 
require appropriate provision to be made for off-street parking in development 
proposals in accordance with its maximum parking standards.  

 

Page 23



 
 

7.40 The proposed development involves the conversion of the existing House of 
Multiple Occupation for up to 15 residents to 8 individual flats. The proposed 
flats are made up of five 1-bed flats and three 2-bed flats. In accordance with 
the Councils Parking Standards, 1.25 parking spaces for 1 bed units and 1.5 
parking spaces for 2 bed dwellings should be provided. The total 
recommended parking provision is therefore 10.75 spaces. Four parking 
spaces (and 2 garage space) are proposed as part of the development. This 
is a shortfall of 4.75 spaces against the proposed standard.  
 

7.41 The County Highway Authority (CHA) was consulted on the planning 
application and has raised no objection to the proposed parking provision 
subject to conditions  The CHA has noted that the parking standards are taken 
as an indicative level of parking that should be provided to accommodate 
parking demand of particular development. Notwithstanding the parking 
standards, the National Planning Policy Framework states that development 
should only be prevented on highways grounds if there would be an 
unacceptable impact on highway safety, or where the residual cumulative 
impact on the road network would be severe. For any objection to be lodged, 
the authority must demonstrate the harm that the development would result in. 

 
7 42 Despite the shortfall in parking when considered against Spelthorne's parking 

standards, the County Highway Authority does not consider the development 
is likely to result in material harm in respect of highway safety or capacity. The 
CHA notes that, ‘…Green Street has existing parking restrictions in the vicinity 
of the site, which restrict parking between 8am and 5pm. In addition, bollards 
have recently been installed along the frontage of the site which discourage 
parking on the footway outside the development. It is therefore considered 
unlikely that drivers would park fully on the carriageway within peak times, 
which would compromise capacity and potentially safety of the highway, or 
park on the footway at any time, which would compromise safety and 
convenience of pedestrians. In any case, the development is unlikely to 
generate significantly greater parking demand than the existing use - a 15 bed 
HMO - or the extant planning permission under application 17/00459/FUL to 
convert the property into 6 flats. The approved scheme was made up of two 3-
bed flats and three 2-bed flats and one 1 bed, where Spelthorne's parking 
standards would recommend 10 spaces for this mix ‘ In addition it should be 
noted that the proposed scheme has an additional parking space, in the form 
of a garage, compared to the previous approve scheme. 

 
7.43 The CHA also comments that policy has not materially changed since the 

previous application was approved. In reference to a letter of objection which 
mentioned visibility to and from the junction to Green Street, SCC notes it has 
considered the visibility from the junction as part of both applications, and 
considers it to be adequate. The footway is over 3 metres wide in this location, 
and therefore suitable visibility splays to and from the carriageway can be 
achieved within the extent of highway. There is no substantial obstruction to 
visibility within the visibility splays recommended by Manual for Streets for a 
road of this speed.  

 

Page 24



 
 

7.44 The previous application was for 6 flats (two 3-bed flats and four 2-bed flats) 
and it provided off road parking spaces for 5 cars including 4 spaces to the 
front of the building and one integral garage space. It required a minimum of 
10 car parking spaces as set out In the Councils car parking standards. This is 
a shortfall of 6.The existing site has 2 garages, which although do not appear 
to be used for parking, do provide 6 spaces for off street parking on site in 
total at present for the use of the building as a HMO for up to 15 people. The 
previous scheme for 3 houses had only 4 off street parking spaces with a 
policy requirement of 8, a shortfall of 4 spaces 

 
7.45 In addition, it should be noted that previously an application for the change of 

use of the previous care home to a HMO for up to 21 people, (Ref 2011/0281) 
would have required 11 off street car parking spaces with the Council’s 
standards, whereas the scheme provided only 6 which included the 2 garages 
a shortfall of 5.This was refused, however during the appeal the planning 
Inspector raised no objection on parking grounds. The current scheme has a 
short fall of 5 spaces and as such is comparable, and policy has not changed, 
despite the timeframe which has passed since the appeal. 

 
7.46 The Inspector at that appeal (ref 2011/0281) noted that in para 13, ‘…the 

proposed change of use (to 21 person HMO) would have a total of six off 
street parking spaces. However, whilst the road immediately outside to the 
building has parking restrictions, on street parking would be available in 
nearby side roads including Nursery Road, the Ridings and Springfield Grove. 
The appeal site is also well located for public transport with bus stops about 
100m away that connect to Staines Ashford Feltham and the mainline railway 
station only 0.5km away. Local shops and services are also only a short 
distance away. He concluded that,’…In light of these factors I am not 
persuaded that the change of use would have a significant detrimental impact 
on either the amenity of local residents in respects of parking, or the 
appearance of the area. It follows that the change of use would not conflict 
with polices EN1 or CC3 of the CS.’ 

 
7.47 As such it is considered that the scheme is acceptable in terms of policies 

CC2 and CC3 on highway and parking issues. Given the nature of the 
proposal and the site’s location, it is considered that an objection could not be 
sustained on parking grounds. 

 
 Contaminated Land 
7.48 The proposal introduces further residential development onto the site, 

however is already in a residential use. The Council’s Pollution Control Officer 
has raised no objection but requested a standard informative. Therefore the 
proposal is considered acceptable on contaminated land grounds. 

 
 Refuse Storage and Collection 
7.49 The layout of the site provides external refuse storage areas to the front of the 

site for the 8 flats. The Council’s Group Head of Neighbourhood Services 
originally raised concerns about the amount of refuse storage provided and 
amended plan have now been submitted in order to provide sufficient space 

Page 25



 
 

for 4400l which exceeds the 3840l required for the 8 flats. Therefore the 
refuse storage details are considered to be acceptable.  

 
 Other matters 
7.50 During the course of the application, the applicants were requested to provide 

a bat survey, as they had done with the previous application at the site. This 
led to a delay, given that bat surveys can only be carried out at certain times 
of the year. The bat survey was carried out in June 2020 and Surrey Wildlife 
Trust (SWT) were consulted. They made a number of comments on protected 
species including  sensitive lighting and biodiversity enhancements. They go 
on to note that in the National Planning Policy Framework (NPPF),  Paragraph 
175, requires that “opportunities to incorporate biodiversity improvements in 
and around developments should be encouraged, especially where this can 
secure measurable net gains for biodiversity”. Therefore they recommend that 
the proposal should provide bird and bat boxes and sensitive lighting should 
be used. They go on to provide further details which have been sent onto the 
applicant. As such there is no objection in regards to bats and the proposal 
conforms to Policy EN8. 

 
The Council’s tree officer was consulted and raises no objection to the 
proposal as trees on site are of limited amenity value. 

 
7.51 Equalities Act 2010 

 
This planning application has been considered in light of the Equality Act 2010 
and associated Public Sector Equality Duty, where the Council is required to 
have due regard to the need to : 
 
 

(a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any other 
conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

 
(b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not share it; 
 

(c) Foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 
protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 

 
The question in every case is whether the decision maker has in substance 
had due regard to the relevant statutory need, to see whether the duty has 
been performed. 
 
The Council’s obligation is to have due regard to the need to achieve these 
goals in making its decisions. Due regard means to have such regard as is 
appropriate in all the circumstances. 
 
It is noted that the Scan Officer raised concerns about the limited access to 
the proposed flats for disabled people and wheelchair users. It should be 
noted that disability has a wide meaning and the definition from the NPPF is 
that people have a disability if they have a physical or mental impairment, 

Page 26



 
 

and that impairment has a substantial and long-term adverse effect on their 
ability to carry out normal day-to-day activities. These persons include, but 
are not limited to, people with ambulatory difficulties, blindness, learning 
difficulties, autism and mental health needs.  The 4 ground floor flats are at 
ground level and the 4 first floor flats are accessible by stairs only. 
Therefore, although not all, but nevertheless some disabled people, could 
still access the development.  Most of the built form is in existence and 
already used as residential accommodation and in addition the building 
already has permission for 6 flats with the same access issues. It is 
considered that although this proposal may affect individuals with protected 
characteristics, specifically the impact of the development on disabled 
people, the development still offers a limited access to additional units for 
disabled people. The application will also be subject to Building Regulation 
Control, and part M relates to disabled access. Therefore, due regard has 
been given to this specific issue and the proposal is considered to be 
acceptable in this Instance. 

 
 

Human Rights Act 1998 
7.52 This planning application has been considered against the provisions of the 

Human Rights Act 1998. Among others under Article 6 the applicants (and 
those third parties who have made representations) have the right to a fair 
hearing and to this end full consideration will be given to their comments. 
Article 8 and Article1 of the First Protocol confer a right to respect private and 
family life and a right to the protection of property, i.e. peaceful enjoyment of 
one's possessions which could include a person's home, and other land and 
business assets. 

 
7.53 In taking account of the Council policy as set out in the Spelthorne Local Plan 

and the NPPF and all material planning considerations, Officers have 
concluded on balance that the rights conferred upon the applicant/ objectors/ 
residents/ other interested party by Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol 
may be interfered with, since such interference is in accordance with the law 
and is justified in the public interest. Any restriction of these rights posed by 
the approval of the application is legitimate since it is proportionate to the 
wider benefits of such a decision, is based upon the merits of the proposal, 
and falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council under the 
Town & Country Planning Acts.  

   
 Financial Considerations 
7.54 Under S155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, Local Planning Authorities 

are now required to ensure that potential financial benefits of certain 
development proposals are made public when a Local Planning Authority is 
considering whether or not to grant planning permission for planning 
applications which are being determined by the Council’s Planning 
Committee. A financial benefit must be recorded regardless of whether it is 
material to the Local Planning Authority’s decision on a planning application, 
but planning officers are required to indicate their opinion as to whether the 
benefit is material to the application or not. In consideration of S155 of the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016, the proposal is a CIL chargeable 

Page 27



 
 

development. It will generate a CIL Payment in relation to the net additional 
gross floor space. This amounts to a CIL payment based on £160 per square 
metre for new residential floor space and is a material consideration in the 
determination of this planning application. The proposal will also generate a 
New Homes Bonus and Council Tax payments which are not material 
considerations in the determination of this proposal.  

 
 Conclusion  
7.55 The proposal is considered to be an acceptable form of development 

providing much needed housing in a sustainable location on a brownfield site. 
It is considered to be acceptable on design grounds and have an acceptable 
impact on the amenity of neighbouring properties and provide an efficient use 
of land for housing. As such the application is recommended for approval. 

 
7.56 In addition, the NPPF requires permission for housing to be granted unless 

the impacts of doing so would significantly and demonstrably outweigh the 
benefits when assessed against the NPPF as a whole.  This is the “tilted 
balance” which applies to Spelthorne in view of the fact there is not a five year 
housing land supply.  This weighs heavily in favour of the scheme given its 
sustainable location, brownfield site and planning history.  As such, it is not 
considered that harm would be caused that would significantly and 
demonstrably outweigh the benefits of providing new housing in this location. 
Therefore the proposal is considered to be acceptable and is recommended 
for approval. 

8.  Recommendation  

 

8.1  GRANT subject to the following conditions: 

 

1.  The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration 
of two years from the date of this permission. 
 
Reason: - This condition is required by Section 91 of the Town and 
Country Planning Act, 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning 
and Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 
2.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance 

with the following approved plans and drawings:- 
 
19.1183/003, 004, 005, 006, 007, 008, 011, 012, 013, 015 received on 
16 Jan 2020, amended plan no. 010 Rev A, 014 Rev A and 014 Rev A 
received on 12 March 2020 and 090 Rev A received on 17 July 2020. 
 

Reason: - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper 
planning  

 
3.  The extension hereby permitted shall be carried out in facing materials 

to match those of the existing building in colour and texture. 

Page 28



 
 

Reason:- To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice 
the appearance of the development and the visual amenities and 
character of the locality, in accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of 
the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document 2009. 

  
4. Prior to the occupation of the development, details of a scheme of the 

means of enclosure shall be submitted to and approved in writing by 
the Local Planning Authority indicating the positions, design, materials 
and type of boundary treatment to be erected.  The boundary treatment 
shall be completed before the occupation of the building.  Development 
shall be carried out in accordance with the approved details and 
maintained as approved. 

 
Reason:-.To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice 
the enjoyment by neighbouring occupiers of their properties and the 
appearance of the locality in accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of 
the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document 2009. 

 
 5. No development shall take place until:- 

(i) A comprehensive desk-top study, carried out to identify and evaluate 
all potential sources and impacts of land and/or groundwater 
contamination relevant to the site, has been submitted to and approved 
in writing by the Local Planning Authority. 
(ii) Where any such potential sources and impacts have been 
identified, a site investigation has been carried out to fully characterise 
the nature and extent of any land and/or groundwater contamination 
and its implications.  The site investigation shall not be commenced 
until the extent and methodology of the site investigation have been 
agreed in writing with the Local Planning Authority. 
(iii) A written method statement for the remediation of land and/or 
groundwater contamination affecting the site shall be agreed in writing 
with the Local Planning Authority prior to the commencement of 
remediation.  The method statement shall include an implementation 
timetable and monitoring proposals, and a remediation verification 
methodology. 

  
The site shall be remediated in accordance with the approved method 
statement, with no deviation from the statement without the express 
written agreement of the Local Planning Authority. 

 
Reason:-.To protect the amenities of future residents and the 
environment from the effects of potentially harmful substances in 
accordance with policies SP6 and EN15 of the Spelthorne Borough 
Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 

   NOTE 
 The requirements of the above Condition must be carried out in 

accordance with current best practice.  The applicant is therefore 
advised to contact Spelthorne's Pollution Control team on 01784 

Page 29



 
 

446251 for further advice and information before any work 
commences.  An information sheet entitled "Land Affected By 
Contamination - Guidance to Help Developers Meet Planning 
Requirements" proving guidance can also be downloaded from 
Spelthorne's website at www.spelthorne.gov.uk. 

 
6. Prior to the first use or occupation of the development, and on 

completion of the agreed contamination remediation works, a validation 
report that demonstrates the effectiveness of the remediation carried 
out shall be submitted to and agreed in writing by the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason:-.To protect the amenities of future residents and the 
environment from the effects of potentially harmful substances in 
accordance with policies SP6 and EN15 of the Spelthorne Borough 
Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 

   NOTE 
 The requirements of the above Condition must be carried out in 

accordance with current best practice.  The applicant is therefore 
advised to contact Spelthorne's Pollution Control team on 01784 
446251 for further advice and information before any work 
commences.  An information sheet entitled "Land Affected By 
Contamination - Guidance to Help Developers Meet Planning 
Requirements" proving guidance can also be downloaded from 
Spelthorne's website at www.spelthorne.gov.uk. 

  
7. That no openings of any kind be formed in the northern, southern, 

eastern and western elevations of the roof of the building hereby 
permitted without the prior planning permission of the Local Planning 
Authority. 

 
Reason:-.To safeguard the privacy of the adjoining property(ies) in 
accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of the Spelthorne Borough Core 
Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 

 
8. Prior to the occupation of the building a scheme to provide bird and bat 

boxes on the site shall be submitted to and approved in writing by the 
Local Planning Authority. The agreed scheme shall be implemented 
before the building is occupied and thereafter maintained. 

 
   Reason:-.To encourage wildlife on the site. 
 

9. Prior to the occupation of the development hereby permitted the 
ground and first floor floor window(s) on the northern and southern side 
elevation(s) shall be obscure glazed and be non-opening to a minimum 
height of 1.7 metres above internal floor level in accordance with 
details/samples of the type of glazing pattern to be submitted to and 
approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority.  The(se) window(s) 
shall thereafter be permanently retained as installed. 

 

Page 30



 
 

Reason:-.To safeguard the privacy of the adjoining property(ies) in 
accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of the Spelthorne Borough Core 
Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 

 
10. Details of a scheme of both soft and hard landscaping works shall be 

submitted to and approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority 
prior to the first occupation of any part of the development hereby 
approved. The approved scheme of tree and shrub planting and other 
associated works shall be carried out prior to first occupation of the 
buildings and/or site. The planting so provided shall be maintained as 
approved for a period of 5 years, such maintenance to include the 
replacement in the current or next planting season whichever is the 
sooner, of any trees or shrubs that may die, are removed or become 
seriously damaged or diseased, with others of similar size and species, 
unless the Local Planning Authority gives written permission to any 
variation. 

 
Reason: - To minimise the loss of visual amenity occasioned by the 
development and to enhance the proposed development. 

 
11. The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless 

and until facilities for the secure, covered parking of bicycles have been 
provided in accordance with the approved plans. Thereafter the 
approved cycle parking facilities shall be retained and maintained to 
the satisfaction of the Local Planning Authority for their designated 
purpose. 

 
Reason: This condition is required in recognition of Section 4 
"Promoting Sustainable Transport" in the National Planning Policy 
Framework 2019, and to accord with policy CC2 of Spelthorne Borough 
Council’s Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 
February 2009. 
 

12. Prior to the occupation of the building, facilities within the curtilage of 
the site for the storage of refuse and recycling materials shall be 
implemented in accordance with the  approved plans and retained 
thereafter. 
 
Reason:- To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice 
the enjoyment by neighbouring occupiers of their properties and the 
appearance of the locality in accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of 
the Spelthorne Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan 
Document 2009. 

 

 
Informatives to be attached to the planning permission 

 
1. The developer is reminded that it is an offence to allow materials to be carried 

from the site and deposited on or damage the highway from uncleaned 
wheels or badly loaded vehicles. The Highway Authority will seek, 

Page 31



 
 

Wherever possible, to recover any expenses incurred in clearing, cleaning or 
repairing highway surfaces and prosecutes persistent offenders. (Highways 
Act 1980 Sections 131, 148, 149). 

 
2. Section 59 of the Highways Act permits the Highway Authority to charge 

developers for damage caused by excessive weight and movements of 
vehicles to and from a site. The Highway Authority will pass on the cost 
Of any excess repairs 

 
3. The applicant’s attention is drawn to the ACPO/Home Office Secured by 

Design (SBD) award scheme, details of which can be viewed at 
www.securedbydesign.com.  

 
4. With regard to surface water drainage it is the responsibility of a developer to 

make proper provision for drainage to ground, water courses or a suitable 
sewer. In respect of surface water it is recommended that the applicant should 
ensure that storm flows are attenuated or regulated into the receiving public 
network through on or off site storage. When it is proposed to connect to a 
combined public sewer, the site drainage should be separate and combined at 
the final manhole nearest the boundary. Connections are not permitted for the 
removal of groundwater. Where the developer proposes to discharge to a 
public sewer, prior approval from Thames Water Developer Services will be 
required. They can be contacted on 0800 009 3921. Reason - to ensure that 
the surface water discharge from the site shall not be detrimental to the 
existing sewerage system.  

 
5. Please note that this application is subject to the payment of Community 

Infrastructure Levy (CIL).  Full details of the charge, how it has been 
calculated and what happens next are set out in the CIL Liability Notice which 
will be sent separately.  
 
If you have not already done so an Assumption of Liability notice should be 
sent to the Council as soon as possible and before the commencement of 
development. 
 
Further information on CIL and the stages which need to be followed is 
available on the Council's website. www.spelthorne.go.uk/CIL. 
 

6. You are advised that the Council will expect the following measures to be 
taken during any building operations to control noise, pollution and parking: 

 
(a) Work that is audible beyond the site boundary should only be carried out 
between 08:00hrs to 18:00hrs Monday to Friday, 08:00hrs to 13:00hrs 
Saturday and not at all on Sundays or any Public and/or Bank Holidays; 
(b) The quietest available items of plant and machinery should be used on 
site. Where permanently sited equipment such as generators are necessary, 
they should be enclosed to reduce noise levels; 
(c) Deliveries should only be received within the hours detailed in (a) above; 
(d) Adequate steps should be taken to prevent dust-causing nuisance beyond 
the site boundary. Such uses include the use of hoses to damp down 

Page 32

http://www.securedbydesign.com/
http://www.spelthorne.go.uk/CIL


 
 

stockpiles of materials, which are likely to generate airborne dust, to damp 
down during stone/slab cutting; and the use of bowsers and wheel washes; 
(e) There should be no burning on site; 
(f) Only minimal security lighting should be used outside the hours stated 
above; and 
(g) Building materials and machinery should not be stored on the highway and 
contractors' vehicles should be parked with care so as not to cause an 
obstruction or block visibility on the highway. 

 
Further details of these noise and pollution measures can be obtained from 
the Council's Environmental Health Services Unit. In order to meet these 
requirements and to promote good neighbourliness, the Council recommends 
that this site is registered with the Considerate Constructors Scheme - 
www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/site-registration of these noise and pollution 
measures can be obtained from the Council's Environmental Health Services 
Unit. In order to meet these requirements and to promote good 
neighbourliness, the Council recommends that this site is registered with the 
Considerate Constructors Scheme - www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/site-
registrationfurther details of these noise and pollution measures can be 
obtained from the Council's Environmental Health Services Unit. In order to 
meet these requirements and to promote good neighbourliness, the Council 
recommends that this site is registered with the Considerate Constructors 
Scheme - www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/site-registration 

 
7. The applicant is advised that the essential requirements for an acceptable 

communication plan forming part of a Method of Construction Statement are 
viewed as:  

(a) How those likely to be affected by the site's activities are identified and 
how they will be informed about the project, site activities and programme;  
(b) How neighbours will be notified prior to any noisy/disruptive work or of 
any significant changes to site activity that may affect them;  
(c) The arrangements that will be in place to ensure a reasonable 
telephone response during working hours;  
(d) The name and contact details of the site manager who will be able to 
deal with complaints; and   
(e) How those who are interested in or affected will be routinely advised 
regarding the progress of the work. Registration and operation of the site 
to the standards set by the Considerate Constructors Scheme 
(http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/) would help fulfil these requirements. 

.  
 
 

Page 33

http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/site-registration
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/site-registration
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/site-registration
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/index.php/site-registration
http://www.ccscheme.org.uk/


This page is intentionally left blank



Existing Ground floor plan 

 
Proposed Ground floor plan 

 

Page 35



 
 

Existing first floor plan 

 
 
Proposed First floor plan 
 

 
 

 

 

 

 

Page 36



 
 
Existing front and rear elevations 

 
Existing side elevations 

 

Page 37



 
 
Proposed frotn and rear elevations 

 
Proposed side extensions 
 

 

Page 38



 
 
 
 
 

Page 39



This page is intentionally left blank



84

79

81

Def TCB

37a

ED Bdy

El Sub Sta

O
R
C
H
A
R
D
 C
LO

S
E

E
LI
G
N

E
LG

IN
 AV

E
N
U
E

HOGARTH AVENUE

A
V
E
N
U
E

FELTHAM HILL ROAD

WOODLANDS PARADE

H
O
G
A
R
T
H

11

Roofs

233c

231c

1

2

71

27

23

43 47

37

52

233

208

32

219

196

231

240

41

13

49 46
48

15

17

92

218

24

229

7

83

50

95

59

70
86

9997

26

16

31

30

38

10
1

91

80

35

20

9

87

54

33

44

22
12

10
3

25

235

18

93

36

89

66

42

14

Shelter

LB

13.4m

13.7m

36

46

1

1

37

32

9

12

24

7

1

50

23

33

2

46

7

48

48

1

1

16

22

© Crown copyright and database rights 2019 Ordnance Survey 100024284. ¯Scale: 1:1,250
20/00150/FUL - 11 Hogarth Avenue, Ashford

Page 41

Agenda Item 5



This page is intentionally left blank



 

Planning Committee 

19 August 2020 

 
 

Application No. 20/00150/FUL 

Site Address 11 Hogarth Avenue, Ashford, TW15 1QB  

Applicant Mr Paul James 

Proposal Change of use of existing dwelling to a 7 bedroom HMO including 
increase to height of an existing rear extension and conversion of two 
integral garages to habitable accommodation.  

Case Officer Matthew Clapham 

Ward Ashford Common 

Called-in Cllr Noble – citing concerns over the impact upon character of the area, 
amenity of adjoining properties and parking concerns.  

  

Application Dates 
Valid: 20.02.2020 Expiry: 16.04.2020 

Target: Extension of 
Time agreed 
(21.8.2020) 

Executive 
Summary 

The application seeks to change the use of the existing dwelling into a 7 
person, 7 bedroom House in Multiple Occupation (HMO). The proposal 
would include the provision of 4 marked out parking spaces to the front 
of the dwelling, which is already made-up of hardstanding, the 
conversion of two existing integral garages into habitable 
accommodation may be carried out under permitted development, 
including the replacement of the garage doors with windows and further 
alterations to the fenestration of three windows to the rear.    

It is considered that the proposed change of use is acceptable in 
principle in this location. The change of use, with a proposal for a 7 no. 
bedroom HMO in this existing dwellinghouse, which is not being 
extended, would not have a detrimental impact upon the character and 
appearance of the locality. Nor would the proposal have a material 
harmful impact upon the residential amenity of the adjoining residential 
properties.  

Satisfactory amenity areas, both internally and externally, would be 
provided for future occupiers of the premises. There is no objection from 
Environmental Health and the use would need to be the subject of a 
separate licence.  No significant concerns regarding noise and 
disturbance are considered to arise from the change of use, with no 
objections being raised by the Environmental Health Officer in this 
regard.  

Page 43



 
 

The site is considered to be located within a sustainable location with 
public transport facilities and retail outlets in close proximity, all within 
walking distance.   

No parking concerns are considered to arise in association with the 
proposed change of use. The County Highway’s Authority has not raised 
any concerns regarding highway safety. 

. 

Recommended 
Decision 

 

Approve the application subject to conditions set out at Paragraph 8 of 
the Report. 

 

 MAIN REPORT 

 

1. Development Plan 

1.1 The following policies in the Council’s Core Strategy and Policies DPD 2009 
are considered relevant to this proposal: 

EN1 – Design of New Development 

EN11 – Development and Noise 

CC3 – Parking Provision  

 

2. Relevant Planning History 

2.1 The site has the following planning history:  

06/00393/FUL 

Erection of a part two storey part first floor extension. 

Granted 07.07.2006 

 

3. Description of Current Proposal 

3.1 The application relates to a semi-detached two storey dwelling house located 
on the eastern side of Hogarth Avenue on an irregular triangular shaped plot. 
The area is residential in character.   The application proposes a change of 
use from a dwelling to a 7 bedroom HMO. 

3.2 The proposal would provide 7 bedrooms, with 4 parking spaces to the front 
and external amenity space to the rear.  There would be 2 communal kitchen 
areas, a communal lounge and a communal shower room and utility area at 
ground floor level. At first floor level, there would be communal kitchenette 
and shower facilities. The seven bedrooms (3 at ground floor level) and 4 at 
first floor level comprise 2 single bedrooms, 3 single bedrooms with en-suite 
facilities and 2 single bedrooms with en-suite and kitchenette facilities. All are 
single bedrooms and a condition is attached to limit the number of residents 
to seven.  

Page 44



 
 

3.3 There is an increase in the height of a single storey rear element, comprising 
an increase of 50cm to an existing flat roof element and a similar increase of 
50cm to a sloping element. New windows are proposed, one at the rear and 
two to the front to replace the existing garage doors.  These elements may be 
carried out as permitted development providing they are done prior to the use 
of the property as an HMO. 

3.4 The site itself is an area of residential properties, between Feltham Hill Road 
to the North and the A308 Staines Road West to the south. Retail facilities are 
provided in Woodlands Parade (off Feltham Hill Road) and on the A308.  

 

4. Consultations 

4.1 The following table shows those bodies consulted and their response. 

Consultee Comment 

Environmental Health  Licensing – No objections.  

County Highway Authority No highway requirements. 

Environmental Health Noise – No objections.  

Environmental Health  Pollution Control - No objections 

 

5. Public Consultation 

5.1 A total of 35 letters of objection have been received, from 30 separate 
households raising the following concerns: 

- Inadequate Parking  

- Highway Safety   

- Noise and disturbance from use 

- Accessibility to pavement 

- Use as a hostel / halfway house 

- Lack of notification  

- Out of character in family road 

- Lack of consideration to local demographic of families and pensioners 

- Overbearing 

- Traffic generation  

- Impact on property values 

- Precedent  

- Refuse arrangements 

- Other refusals in vicinity  

- Vermin, pests and rubbish 

 

6. Planning Issues 

6.1 The main planning matters are: 

Page 45



 
 

 Principle of the change of use 

 Impact upon the character and appearance of the area  

 Amenity for future occupiers of the property 

 Impact of noise and disturbance and amenity upon adjoining residential 
properties 

 Parking and highway safety  

 Other matters 

 

7. Planning Considerations 

Principle of the Change of Use  

7.1 The Town and County Planning Act (General Permitted Development) 
(England) Order 2015 (as amended) allows the change of use of a 
dwellinghouse (Class C3) to a House of Multiple Occupation (HMO) (Class 
C4) without planning permission, where the number of  occupiers is limited to 
a shared house of up to six unrelated individuals. In this instance, the 
proposal is for an HMO for seven occupiers, therefore planning permission is 
required. Where there are more than six unrelated individuals sharing 
amenities, this is termed an HMO in Sui Generis use because it is not 
included in any of the planning use classes. 

7.2 It is therefore important to note that six separate unrelated individuals may 
occupy the property without planning permission, and the consideration must 
therefore be in respect of the net cumulative impact of one additional person 
residing in this property. It should also be noted that the proposal would result 
in the provision of a sought after type of housing tenure that is needed within 
the Borough.  

7.3 The property is located in a sustainable location and within an existing 
residential area. There are a number of public transport routes in close 
proximity, notably on the A308 (Staines Road West), School Road and 
Feltham Hill Road. Furthermore. There are commercial retail units at 
Woodlands Parade and a Marks and Spencer Simply Food outlet all within 
walking distance.  

7.4 The proposal also includes alterations to an existing extension at the rear of 
the property, with a small increase in the height of an existing single storey 
rear extension by 50cm.  .    

Impact upon the Character and appearance of the area. 

7.5 The property is subject to limited external alterations, including minor changes 
to fenestration and the replacement of the garage doors and a small increase 
in the height of an existing rear extension. The conversion of the garages 
would not require planning permission and due to the extent of off street 
parking to the front of the property, this is not considered to be of concern.  
Therefore, the property will continue to appear as a semi-detached dwelling, 
commensurate with the character and appearance of the area. The addition of 
one additional person, with a condition restricting the number of occupiers to 
seven is considered to be reasonable in a dwelling of this size, with five 
bedrooms already existing in this dwelling and two new bedrooms in the 
converted garages. The Council would be unable to control the number of 

Page 46



 
 

occupiers in a single occupied dwelling house occupied as a single family 
unit.  

7.6      It is noted that the area is characterised by largely family or sole-occupancy 
dwellings. However, as stated in the paragraph above, the Council cannot 
control who resides in any single residential dwelling and the property could 
be used by six single individual occupiers without the requirement of planning 
permission. The hardstanding to the front is already existing and may be used 
for parking already. Therefore, it is not considered that there would be any 
significant adverse impacts upon the character and appearance of the area.   

 

Amenity for future occupiers of the property 

7.7 The proposal includes a number of communal internal areas, including a 
stand-alone kitchen at ground floor level and a kitchenette at first floor level, 
together with a lounge, utility room and two shower rooms. A number of 
bedrooms also have their own en-suite facilities, with two having kitchenette 
areas. The Council’s Environmental Health Licensing team have, while 
awaiting a formal license application, indicated that the proposals are likely to 
provide adequate accommodation in terms of both private and communal 
areas.  

7.8 There is a garden area to the rear providing external amenity space, 
accessible from the communal kitchen/diner area, which, while noting that the 
garden tapers at the end, reflecting the irregular shape of the plot, is 
considered to provide a reasonable and good quality level of outdoor amenity 
space for the future occupiers of the development.  

7.9 To the front, there are bedroom windows that face out onto the front 
hardstanding area. However, this is the existing situation and a buffer strip of 
planting is shown on the submitted plans. While this has the potential to result 
in some intermittent noise and disturbance and loss of outlook to the 
occupants of these rooms, this arrangement is not uncommon in HMO’s 
where off street parking is often located to the front of ground floor windows. 
Moreover, given the conclusion that there is the opportunity for transport by 
means other than the car, which would influence the extent to which car 
parking movements would need to occur, it is not considered that the parking 
of vehicles on the frontage of the site would cause any unacceptable 
detrimental noise and disturbance to the proposed occupiers. The buffer area 
would provide a reasonable area to reduce the potential disturbance from 
vehicles accessing and egressing the parking area and a reasonable outlook 
from these windows. Therefore, it is considered that the proposal would 
provide an acceptable level of amenity for the future occupiers of the property.  

Impact upon amenity upon adjoining residential properties 

7.10  In terms of overbearing and loss of light, the small roof extension to the rear is 
very minimal and no significant impacts are considered to arise in terms of 
any physical impacts upon adjoining properties.  

7.11 Concerns have been raised regarding potential noise and disturbance from 
the occupiers of the property and other concerns, such as pest and vermin 
and refuse concerns. In addition, concerns have also been raised regarding 
whether the dwelling could become a hostel or halfway house. The use of a 
property as an HMO does not necessarily mean that anti-social behaviour will 
result. A number of HMOs exist in the Borough with no issues arising. Any 

Page 47



 
 

concerns regarding anti-social behaviour will be a matter for the management 
company overseeing the HMO and subject to control by the Council’s 
Environmental Health Licensing and Noise Control Officers, who may utilise 
separate legislation outside of planning to control these matters. A Change of 
Use to a hostel would require separate planning permission under a different 
use class.  

7.12 In terms of parking concerns and the knock-on effect upon adjoining 
residential roads, some third party representations have commented upon the 
potential impact that the proposal would add to the visual dominance of cars 
in the street scene and reduced on street parking availability. However, it is 
not uncommon for streets in urban areas where there are limited opportunities 
for off street parking to have cars parked on both sides of the street. There is  
a predominance of unrestricted parking on both sides of the street on Hogarth 
Avenue and the surrounding streets and that this was part of the established 
character and appearance of the area. 

 
7.13 These streets have a finite opportunity for on street car parking. Even if the 

streets were fully occupied by parked cars in the evening, the additional 
requirement for spaces in an unrestricted parking area as a result of the HMO 
would have little material impact on the appearance of the existing street 
scene. As the area is already fully parked in the evening, then any additional 
parking demand would not change the appearance of the street. Therefore it 
is considered that the proposal would not materially harm the character and 
appearance of the area and therefore would not be in conflict with the 
provisions of Policy EN1. 

 
Highways and Parking  

7.14 The County Highway Authority has not raised an objection to the proposal in 
terms of highway safety. The property is already used as a domestic dwelling 
and four parking spaces are proposed for a seven person HMO, utilising the 
existing hardstanding. The Council’s adopted Parking Standards (June 2001 
and updated September 2011) do not have a specific standard for HMOs.  
However, the property could be occupied by an unlimited number of persons 
from the same household  

7.15    As stated in paragraph 7.3 above, the site is considered to be located in a 
sustainable location and within a reasonable walking distance to public 
transport links and with access to a range of services and where there are 
other opportunities to travel other than by car. It may well be that not all 
occupants of the proposed HMO would have access to a car and could use 
the alternative transport means available in the locality.  

7.16   The concerns that additional parking demands may give rise to access 
difficulties for emergency vehicles and for users of the pedestrian highway are 
noted. However, whilst recognising the importance of these matters to local 
residents, the highway authority have not raised concerns and it is apparent 
that there is still room to park on carriageway with space remaining for 
vehicles to pass. Given the lack of any substantive evidence that the proposal 
would give rise to highway safety issues, taking into account the views of the 
highway authority and the observations on site by the case officer, it is not 
considered that the proposal would not give rise to any demonstrable highway 
safety issues. 

Page 48



 
 

 

Other Matters 

7.17 It is considered that the level of notification of this application was acceptable 
and met statutory guidance. The impact upon property values is not a material 
planning consideration. The potential for ‘precedent’ is not considered 
relevant as each planning application has to be considered and determined 
on their own merits. Similarly, other appeal decisions in proximity to this 
application site, were determined on their own merits. With regard to the third 
party comments regarding refuse storage, the level of refuse created is 
considered to be commensurate with any large family dwelling and a suitable 
condition requesting details of the refuse storage area has been attached to 
reflect the HMO status. With regard to the report presented to the Overview 
and Scrutiny Committee in January 2020, the report made it clear that the 
numbers of HMOs in the borough compared with the numbers of 
householders was a very small amount.  It is not considered that the use of 
the dwelling as an HMO would cause nuisances such as pests, vermin and 
rubbish and these are a matter for the management of the property and 
Environmental Health.     

 
Equalities Act 2010 
 

7.18 This planning application has been considered in light of the Equality Act 2010 
and associated Public Sector Equality Duty, where the Council is required to 
have due regard to the need to : 
 
 

a) eliminate discrimination, harassment, victimisation and any 
other conduct that is prohibited by or under this Act; 

 
b) advance equality of opportunity between persons who share a 

relevant protected characteristic and persons who do not 
share it; 

 
c) foster good relations between persons who share a relevant 

protected characteristic and persons who do not share it. 
 
The question in every case is whether the decision maker has in substance 
had due regard to the relevant statutory need, to see whether the duty has 
been performed. 
 

The Council’s obligation is to have due regard to the need to achieve these 
goals in making its decisions. Due regard means to have such regard as is 
appropriate in all the circumstances. 
 
It is considered that the decision would have regard to this duty.   
 

Human Rights Act 1998 
 
7.19 This planning application has been considered against the provisions of the 

Human Rights Act 1998. 
 

Page 49



 
 

Among others, under Article 6 the applicants (and those third parties who 
have made representations) have the right to a fair hearing and to this end full 
consideration will be given to their comments. 
 
Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Article confer a right to respect private and 
family life and a right to the protection of property, i.e. peaceful enjoyment of 
one's possessions which could include a person's home, and other land and 
business assets. 
 
In taking account of the Council policy as set out in the Spelthorne Local Plan 
and the NPPF and all material planning considerations, Officers have 
concluded on balance that the rights conferred upon the applicant/ objectors/ 
residents/ other interested party by Article 8 and Article 1 of the First Protocol 
may be interfered with, since such interference is in accordance with the law 
and is justified in the public interest. Any restriction of these rights posed by 
the approval of the application is legitimate since it is proportionate to the 
wider benefits of such a decision, is based upon the merits of the proposal, 
and falls within the margin of discretion afforded to the Council under the 
Town & Country Planning Acts. 
 

Financial Considerations  

7.20 Under S155 of the Housing and Planning Act 2016, Local Planning Authorities 
are now required to ensure that potential financial benefits of certain 
development proposals are made public when a Local Planning Authority is 
considering whether or not to grant planning permission for planning 
applications which are being determined by the Council’s Planning 
Committee. A financial benefit must be recorded regardless of whether it is 
material to the Local Planning Authority’s decision on a planning application, 
but planning officers are required to indicate their opinion as to whether the 
benefit is material to the application or not. In consideration of S155 of the 
Housing and Planning Act 2016, the proposal is not a community 
infrastructure levy (CIL) chargeable development as such there is no financial 
benefit associated with this planning application.  

 
 
Conclusion  

 
7.21 The proposal is considered to be an acceptable form of development 

providing a 7 bedroom HMO with associated parking and internal and external 
amenity areas and facilities for the future occupiers. It is not considered that 
there will be any adverse impacts upon the character and appearance of the 
area nor any detrimental harmful impacts upon the residential amenity of 
adjoining properties. Four parking spaces are provided for 7 occupants which 
is considered acceptable. The County Highways Authority has not raised any 
concerns regarding highway safety. The use of a dwelling as an HMO with 
good management does not necessarily mean that there will be anti-social 
behaviour. This is also a licensing matter for the Environmental Health Team 
who have not raised any concerns, although await a licence application.  
Therefore the proposal is considered to be conform to Policies EN1 of the 
Core Strategy and Policies DPD, ‘Consequently the application is 
recommended for approval. 

Page 50



 
 

 

 

8. Recommendation 

8.1 GRANT subject to the following conditions: 

1.  The development hereby permitted shall be begun before the expiration of 
three years from the date of this permission. 

Reason: - This condition is required by Section 91 of the Town and Country 
Planning Act, 1990 as amended by Section 51 of the Planning and 
Compulsory Purchase Act 2004. 

 

2.  The development hereby permitted shall be carried out in accordance with the 
following approved plans and drawings:- 

Site Location Plan; drawing no. 01; 02 received 20.02.2020 and 03 rev H; 04 
rev H received 6.7.2020 and 05 rev I received 7.8.2020. 

 

Reason: - For the avoidance of doubt and in the interest of proper planning  

3. The occupation of the HMO hereby permitted shall be limited to a maximum of 
7 residents at any time.  

 
Reason:-.To safeguard the amenity and character of the local area in 
accordance with policies SP6, EN1 and EN11 of the Spelthorne Borough 
Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 

 

4. Facilities within the curtilage of the site for the storage of refuse and recycling 
materials shall be submitted to and approved by the Local Planning Authority.  
The agreed details shall be implemented prior to the occupation of the 
development hereby approved and retained thereafter. 
 
Reason:- To ensure that the proposed development does not prejudice the 
enjoyment by neighbouring occupiers of their properties and the appearance 
of the locality in accordance with policies SP6 and EN1 of the Spelthorne 
Borough Core Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document 2009. 
 

 
5. The development hereby approved shall not be first occupied unless and until 

facilities have been provided in accordance with details to be provided 
showing the secure parking of bicycles within the development site that have 
been approved in writing by the Local Planning Authority. Thereafter, the said 
approved facilities shall be retained and maintained to the satisfaction of the 
Local Planning Authority. 

 
 Reason:- In order that the development makes suitable provision for 

sustainable travel, in accordance with the sustainable objectives of Chapter 9 
“Promoting sustainable transport” of the National Planning Policy Framework 
2019, and policies CC2 and CC3 of Spelthorne Borough Council’s Core 
Strategy and Policies Development Plan Document February 2009. 
 

Page 51



 
 

 

INFORMATIVES TO APPLICANT 

 
1 Access by the Fire Brigade 

Notice of the provisions of Section 20 of the Surrey County Council Act 
1985 is hereby endorsed on this planning permission. Copies of the 
Section may be obtained from the Council Offices or from County Hall. 
Section 20 of this Act requires that when a building is erected or 
extended, proper provision must be made for the Fire Brigade to have 
means of access to the building or to any neighbouring buildings. 
There are also requirements relating to access and facilities for the fire 
service contained in Part B of the Building Regulations 2000 (as 
amended). 

 
2. The applicant's attention is drawn to the Equalities Act 2010, which 

requires the property to be accessible to disabled people. 
 
3. The applicant is advised that the extensions, new windows and 

conversion of the garages as shown on the approved plans may be 
carried out as permitted development providing they are done prior to 
the use of the property as an HMO. 

 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 

Page 52



 

 
 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

 

Page 53



 
 

 

 

 

Page 54



Planning Committee 
19 August 2020 

 
 
 
 

 
Planning Appeals Report – V2.0 ISSUED 

  

  
List of Appeals Submitted between 24 June 2020 and 27 July 2020 

  
 
 

Planning 
Application / 
Enforcement 
Number 
 

 
Inspectorate 
Ref. 

 
Address 

 
Description 

 
Appeal Start 
Date 

19/01570/FUL APP/Z3635/W/20/3249419 307 Feltham Hill Road, 
TW15 1LT 

The erection of 3x2 bedroom terraced 
dwellings and 2x2 bedroom detached 
dwellings with associated parking and 
amenity space following demolition of 
existing dwellings. 

24/06/2020 

20/00446/HOU APP/Z3635/D/20/3255429 18 Glebe Road 
Staines-upon-Thames 
TW18 1BX 

The erection of a detached 
outbuilding. 

04/07/20201 

19/01273/FUL APP/Z3635/W/20/3250772 59 Laleham Road, 
Shepperton 
TW17 8EQ 

Subdivision of plot and erection of a 
self-contained two bedroom dwelling 
house with associated access and 

07/07/2020 

                                            
1 This is the appeal submission date to PINS but an official ‘Start Date’ has not yet been assigned to this appeal by PINS. 

P
age 55

A
genda Item

 6



amenity space (following demolition 
of an existing outbuilding). 

19/01727/FUL APP/Z3635/W/20/3250469 Land To The Rear Of 
55 Squires Bridge 
Road 
Shepperton 
TW17 0JZ 

Proposed erection of pair of 2 storey 
3 bedroom semi-detached houses 

08/07/2020 

20/00063/HOU APP/Z3635/D/20/3251754 96 Woodthorpe Road, 
Ashford 

TW15 3JY 

Construction of a vehicle crossover 13/07/2020 

19/01444/CLD APP/Z3635/X/20/3250404 10 Park Road, 
Ashford, 
TW15 1EY 

Certificate of lawfulness for an 
existing outbuilding 

15/07/2020 

19/01529/FUL APP/Z3635/W/20/3253447 10 Station Approach, 
Ashford, 
TW15 2QN 

Construction of a third floor to create 
1 no. flat within a mansard roof and 
other associated alterations (including 
alterations to fenestration and 
addition of parapet wall at second 
floor). 

24/07/2020 

20/00158/HOU APP/Z3635/D/20/3253735 122 Ashridge Way, 

Sunbury on Thames, 
TW16 7RR 

Erection of a front porch, a single 
storey and part two storey rear 
extension with a Juliet balcony. Loft 
alterations that would include a hip to 
gable alteration, the installation of a 
rear facing dormer with a Juliet 
balcony, and 2no. roof lights within 
the front roof slope. 

27/07/2020 

P
age 56



Appeal Decisions Received 3 July 2020 and 14 July 2020 
 
 
 

Site 
 

Land At 648 London Road, Ashford, TW15 3AW 

Enforcement 
Reference: 
 

19/00003/ENF 

Breach: 
 

Without planning permission, the material change of use of the land 
from use for car parking for a car sales business and use of a porta 
cabin as an office, to car parking for a car sales business and use of 
a porta cabin as an office, and the siting of a second porta cabin and 
its use as an office. 

Appeal 
Reference: 
 

APP/Z3635/C/19/3240021 

Appeal Decision 
Date: 
 

3 July 2020 

Inspector’s 
Decision 
 

Appeal Dismissed 

Inspector’s 
Comments: 

The Inspector identified the main issues are the effect of the 
development upon the living conditions for the adjoining occupiers of 
1 Barry Terrace, Orchard Way with particular regard to outlook, 
privacy and noise and disturbance. 
The porta cabin has a utilitarian appearance and is located 
immediately adjacent to the small rear garden and residential 
property of No 1 Barry Terrace, Orchard Way. The porta cabin rising 
above the existing side boundary fence appears as a visually 
intrusive feature in the outlook from the rear garden of this adjacent 
property, harmfully reducing the sense of openness experienced by 
occupiers of this property. 
He, therefore, found the development results in harm to the living 
conditions for existing occupiers of 1 Barry Terrace, Orchard Way 
with particular regard to outlook, which is contrary to Policy EN1 of 
the Spelthorne Borough Council Core Strategy and Policies 
Development Plan Document, 2009 (CS). 
The appeal was dismissed and the Enforcement Notice upheld. 

 

Page 57



This page is intentionally left blank


	Agenda
	2 Minutes
	4 Planning Application No. 20/00052/FUL - Inglewood, Green Street, Sunbury on Thames, TW16 6QB
	Officers Report - Inglewood, Green Street, Sunbury
	Appendices - Inglewood, Green Street, Sunbury on Thames

	5 Planning Application No. 20/00150/FUL - 11 Hogarth Avenue, Ashford, TW15 1QB
	Officer's report - 11 Hogarth Avenue, Ashford
	Appendices - 11 Hogarth Avenue, Ashford

	6 Planning Appeals Report

